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Case No. C-3-97-375

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF
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1999 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20675

December 30, 1999, Decided
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DISPOSITION: [*1] Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsid-
eration (Doc. # 37) overruled. Plaintiff's Motion to Strike
(Doc. # 38) sustained. Defendants' renewed Motion for
Summary Judgment (Doc. # 36) overruled.

COUNSEL: For THOMAS NMI WRIGHT, plaintiff:
Jason David Fregeau, Longmeadow, MA.

For ASSET ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION, DANA
HADDEN, defendants: Murdoch J Hertzog, St Clair
Shores, MI.

JUDGES: WALTER HERBERT RICE, CHIEF
JUDGE, UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT.

OPINION BY: WALTER HERBERT RICE

OPINION:

DECISION AND ENTRY OVERRULING PLAIN-
TIFF'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION (DOC. #
37); PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO STRIKE (DOC. # 38)
SUSTAINED; DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUM-
MARY JUDGMENT (DOC. # 36) OVERRULED

This litigation arises under the Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act ("FDCPA"), 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq., and
the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act ("OCSPA"),
Ohio Rev. Code Chapter 1345. In his Complaint, the
Plaintiff alleges that the Defendants violated both Acts
by sending him four debt collection letters. nl More spe-
cifically, he alleges that the Defendants: (1) misrepre-
sented the legal title to his debt; (2) failed to inform him
of the consequences of acknowledging debts; (3) misrep-
resented the imminence of [*2] legal action; (4) created
a false sense of urgency; and (5) mailed him letters that
were calculated to abuse, to harass, and to oppress. n2 He
seeks to recover statutory damages, costs, and attorneys'

fees. He also seeks injunctive relief on his claim under
the OCSPA.

nl The Defendants are the Asset Acceptance
Corporation ("AAC") and Dana Hadden, an em-
ployee of AAC who attempted to collect a debt
from the Plaintiff. In his Complaint, the Plaintiff
alleges that he incurred a debt to Value City Fur-
niture, and that AAC purchased the debt after he
had defaulted on it.

n2 Although the Plaintiff's Complaint does
not set forth these theories of recovery, he has as-
serted them in a prior Motion for Partial Sum-
mary Judgment (Doc. # 23).

In a May 10, 1999, Decision and Entry (Doc. # 33),
the Court overruled a Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment (Doc. # 23), filed by the Plaintiff. n3 In so
doing, the Court found that the Plaintiff had failed to
establish the Defendants' liability, as a matter of law,
under any of his [*3] theories of recovery. In its May 10,
1999, ruling, the Court also sustained in part, and over-
ruled in part, a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment
(Doc. # 25), filed by the Defendants. n4 The Court sus-
tained the Defendants' Motion, insofar as it related to the
Plaintiff's FDCPA claims alleging: (1) a failure to inform
him of the consequences of acknowledging debts; (2) the
creation of a false sense of urgency; and (3) engagement
in abusive, harassing, and oppressive behavior. The
Court overruled the Defendants' Motion, however, inso-
far as it related to the Plaintiff's FDCPA claims alleging:
(1) misrepresentation of legal title; and (2) misrepresen-
tation of the imminence of legal action.
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n3 The Plaintiff's Motion was directed to-

ward the issue of the Defendants' liability under
both the FDCPA and the OCSPA.

n4 Although the Defendants styled their Mo-
tion as one for summary judgment, they failed to
address the Plaintiff's claim under the OCSPA.
Consequently, the Court construed their Motion
as one for partial summary judgment. (Doc. # 33
at 5).

[*4]

With respect to the misrepresentation of legal title
claim, the Plaintiff alleged that the Defendants had vio-
lated 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(10) by falsely representing in
their correspondence that they had purchased his debt. n5
In its May 10, 1999, ruling, the Court recognized that a
debt collector, in the business of collecting debts that it
had purchased, would violate the FDCPA if it attempted
to collect a debt that it had not purchased. (Doc. # 33 at
8). Based upon the evidence before it, however, the
Court found a genuine issue of material fact as to
whether Value City n6 had assigned the Plaintiff's debt to
West Capital Financial Services Corporation ("West
Capital"), another debt collection agency, from which it
was purchased by AAC. Accordingly, the Court over-
ruled both Motions for [Partial] Summary Judgment on
that issue.

n5 Section 1692¢(10) prohibits the use of
any false representation or deceptive means to
collect or to attempt to collect any debt.

n6 More specifically, the record reflects that
the initial owner of the Plaintiff's debt was Gen-
eral Electric Capital Corporation ("GE Capital"),
which is the financing arm for Value City.

[*5]

The Court reached a similar conclusion with respect
to the Plaintiff's claim that the Defendants had misrepre-
sented the imminence of legal action, in violation of 75
US.C. § 1692e(5), which prohibits a debt collector
from, inter alia, threatening to take any action "that can-
not legally be taken . . . ." n7 The Plaintiff argued that
the Defendants had violated § 1692e(5) by threatening
to initiate a collection action against him. He contended
that no collection action was possible, because the De-
fendants did not own his Value City debt. As noted
above, however, the Court found a genuine issue of ma-
terial fact as to whether the debt had been assigned to
West Capital, from which it was purchased by AAC. The

Court also found a genuine issue of material fact as to
whether the AAC collection letter at issue constituted a
"threat" of legal action. The Court noted that the threat
contained in the letter was a contingent one. Specifically,
it was contingent upon the Plaintiff working full-time.
Given the absence of evidence on the issue of the Plain-
tiff's full-time employment status, the Court found a
genuine issue of material fact regarding whether the let-
ter threatened [*6] legal action. (Doc. # 33 at 14-15).

n7 A claim under § 1692¢(5) has two ele-
ments: (1) a threat to take legal action; and (2) the
inability to take that action lawfully.

After reaching the foregoing conclusions, the Court
noted the Defendants' failure to move for summary
judgment on the Plaintiff's claims under the OCSPA.
Because those state-law claims were co-extensive with
the Plaintiff's claims under the FDCPA, the Court rea-
soned that, if the Defendants had moved for summary
judgment on the Plaintiff's claims under the Ohio statute,
their motion would have been sustained "to the same
extent that they are entitled to such judgment on Plain-
tiff's claims under the federal statute." (Id. at 19 n.15).
The Court also stated: "It occurs to the Court that both of
the Plaintiff's remaining claims under the FDCPA share
the common factual question of whether AAC had legal
title to the Plaintiff's debt (i.e., had Value City trans-
ferred that debt to West Capital, prior to the latter trans-
ferring that debt to AAC). [*7] " The Court then recog-
nized that the foregoing factual issue was potentially
"susceptible to resolution through renewed motions for
summary judgment . . . ." (Id. at 20).

Now pending before the Court is a renewed Motion
for Summary Judgment (Doc. # 36), filed by the Defen-
dants. The Motion is directed toward the Plaintiff's
claims under the OCSPA and the issue of AAC's legal
title to the Plaintiff's debt. Also pending before the Court
is a Motion for Reconsideration (Doc. # 37), filed by the
Plaintiff, and a Motion to Strike (Doc. # 38), also filed
by the Plaintiff. As a means of analysis, the Court first
will resolve the Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration. It
then will turn to the Plaintiff's Motion to Strike and, fi-
nally, to the Defendants' renewed Motion for Summary
Judgment.

1. Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration (Doc. # 37)

The Plaintiff seeks reconsideration of the Court's
May 10, 1999, Decision and Entry in two respects. First,
he contends that the Court erred by finding the Defen-
dants entitled to summary judgment on his claim regard-
ing their failure to inform him of the consequences of
acknowledging debts. Second, he argues that the Court
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erred by [*8] overruling his Motion for Summary Judg-
ment and finding genuine issues of material fact on his
claim that the Defendants misrepresented the imminence
of legal action. n8 The Plaintiff insists that he was enti-
tled to summary judgment on this claim.

n8 The Defendants have asked the Court to
strike the Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration
as untimely. (Doc. # 39 at 2-3). In support, they
rely upon Fed.R.Civ.P. 59(e), which provides that
"any motion to alter or amend a judgment shall
be filed no later than 10 days after entry of the
judgment." In the present case, however, the
Court has not entered judgment in favor of the
Defendants and against the Plaintiff. The Court's
May 10, 1999, Decision and Entry is not final,
and Rule 59(e) does not apply. Cf. Broadway v.
Norris, 193 F.3d 987 (8th Cir. 1999) ("Rule 59(e)
motions are motions to alter or amend a judg-
ment, not any nonfinal order.").

The Plaintiff's argument regarding the acknowledg-
ment of a debt concerns the second debt collection letter
that [*9] he received from the Defendants. In that letter,
the Defendants expressed their regret that he had not
responded to an initial debt collection letter. The letter
also stated:

If your reason for not responding was present finan-
cial problems, please sign below on the line provided,
which by doing so acknowledges the outstanding debt
but indicates you are presently unable economically to
handle the payments, and return to our office.

By supplying this information, we will be in a posi-
tion to re-evaluate our present course and try to assist
you in getting rid of this debt within your economic
means.

(Doc. # 33 at9).

The Plaintiff previously argued that, by asking a
debtor to acknowledge a debt, the Defendants could de-
ceive the debtor into relinquishing a statute of limitations
defense, thereby reviving a time-barred debt. Upon re-
view, the Court rejected this argument, reasoning:

With respect to [15 U.S.C.] § 1692e,
the Court accepts, for present purposes,
the Plaintiff's underlying proposition that
a debt collector violates the statutory pro-
vision, by knowingly attempting to collect
a debt that is barred by the statute of limi-
tations. n9 Indeed, courts have held that a
debt [*10] collector violates that provi-
sion by knowingly attempting to collect a

time-barred debt. See Stepney v. Out-
sourcing Solutions, Inc., 1997 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 18264, 1997 WL 722972 (N.D. Il
1997) (and cases cited therein). This
Court will also accept the Plaintiff's fur-
ther premise that a debt collector could
violate § 1692e by attempting to persuade
a debtor to acknowledge and, thus, to re-
vive a debt, which the collector knows to
be time-barred. However, the Plaintiff has
failed to make a connection between that
premise and the facts of this litigation.
Decidedly missing from the Plaintiff's
Complaint and memoranda is any allega-
tion, evidence or argument that his debt
was time-barred. Therefore, the Defen-
dants' act of requesting the Plaintiff to ac-
knowledge his debt could not have de-
ceived him into reviving that debt. The
mere fact that this debt collection letter
could have deceived some hypothetical
debtor does not mean it violated the Plain-
tiff's rights under the FDCPA. The Plain-
tiff bases his theory that a debt collector
violates § 1692e, by attempting to per-
suade a debtor to acknowledge and, thus,
to revive a debt, upon the recognized the-
ory that a debt collector violates that
statutory [*11] provision, by knowingly
attempting to collect a time-barred debt.
Just as a debt collector does not violate §
1692e, by attempting to collect a debt that
is not time-barred, such a person does not
violate that provision by requesting that
the debtor acknowledge a debt that is
similarly not so barred, merely because it
is possible that under some hypothetical
set of facts a request for an acknowledg-
ment might possibly revive a debt that
was time-barred. Given the absence of
evidence or argument that the Plaintiff's
debt was time-barred, the Defendants
cannot have knowingly attempted to de-
ceive him into reviving that debt by sign-
ing the acknowledgment.

(Doc. #33 at 10-12).

n9 Section 1692(e) provides, in part:

A debt collector may not use
any false, deceptive, or misleading
representation or means in connec-
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tion with the collection of any
debt.

In opposition to the foregoing conclusion, the Plain-
tiff argues that the Court's reasoning "is directly contrary
to the least sophisticated consumer standard. [*12] "
(Doc. # 37 at 3). According to the Plaintiff, the question
is not whether he was deceived into reviving a time-
barred debt, but whether the least sophisticated consumer
could have been so deceived. (Id.). The Plaintiff argues
that the Court's May 10, 1999, ruling replaces an objec-
tive standard with a subjective one.

Upon review, the Court cannot agree that its ruling
contradicts the standard applicable to claims under the
FDCPA. "In determining whether a debt collector's prac-
tice is deceptive withing the meaning of the Act, courts
apply an objective test based on the understanding of the
'least sophisticated consumer." Lewis v. ACB Business
Services, Inc., 135 F.3d 389, 400 (6th Cir .1998). Given
that the Plaintiff previously did not allege or argue that
his debt is time-barred, even the least sophisticated con-
sumer in his position could not have been deceived into
relinquishing a statute of limitations defense. Under the
facts of this case, no such defense existed, and the least
sophisticated consumer in the Plaintiff's position could
not have inadvertently revived a time-barred debt.

In his Motion for Reconsideration, the Plaintiff sug-
gests that an unsophisticated [*13] consumer with a
time-barred debt might be deceived by the Defendants'
collection letter. He cites nothing, however, to support
the proposition that the "least sophisticated consumer"
test obligates the Court to modify the facts at hand and
apply those hypothetical facts to the least sophisticated
consumer. Indeed, under the right set of hypothetical
facts, any debt collection letter could violate the FDCPA.
The Act requires the Court to view the existing facts
from the perspective of the least sophisticated consumer.
It does not obligate the Court to invent hypothetical sce-
narios under which its terms might be violated. Accord-
ingly, the Court finds the Plaintiff's Motion for Recon-
sideration unpersuasive, insofar as it concerns the De-
fendants' request for acknowledgment of his debt. n10

nl0 In his Motion for Reconsideration, the
Plaintiff also suggests, for the first time, that his
own debt might be barred by the applicable stat-
ute of limitations. (Doc. # 37 at 4). He also specu-
lates that the Defendants may not have provided
him with certain requested documents in an effort
to "hide" a statute of limitations problem. (Id.). In
its May 10, 1999, Decision and Entry, however,
the Court noted that "decidedly missing from

Plaintiff's Complaint and memoranda is any alle-
gation, evidence or argument that his debt was
time-barred." (Doc. # 33 at 11). The Plaintiff
cannot now obtain "reconsideration”" of that rul-
ing by raising a new statute of limitations argu-
ment based upon speculation that the Defendants
are hiding documents. If the Plaintiff believes
that the Defendants have not responded to his
discovery requests properly, he should have util-
ized the remedies provided by the Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure.

[*14]

In his second argument, the Plaintiff contends that
the Court erred by finding genuine issues of material fact
on his claim under /5 U.S.C. § 1692¢(5), which prohib-
its a debt collector from threatening to take any action
which it cannot legally take. The Plaintiff argues that the
Court should have sustained his Motion for Summary
Judgment for two reasons. First, he insists that the issue
of whether he was employed full-time when he received
the Defendants' debt collection letters is irrelevant. Sec-
ond, he contends that the Defendants legally could not
have filed suit against him, because they "did not have
the chain of title . . . ." (Doc. # 37 at 5-6). Upon review,
the Court finds both of the Plaintiff's arguments to be
unpersuasive.

In its May 10, 1999, Decision and Entry, the Court
noted that a claim under § 1692¢(5) requires proof of
two elements: (1) a threat to take legal action; and (2) the
inability to take that action lawfully. (Doc. # 33 at 14).
The Court then noted that the Defendants' correspon-
dence made a contingent threat of legal action. Specifi-
cally, the Defendants threatened to initiate a lawsuit
against the Plaintiff if they [*15] discovered that he was
working full-time. The letter did not threaten legal action
against the Plaintiff if he was not employed full-time.
(Id. at 15). Given the absence of evidence concerning the
Plaintiff's employment status, the Court found a genuine
issue of material fact as to whether the letter "threatened"
legal action.

In his Motion for Reconsideration, the Plaintiff as-
serts, without any supporting evidence, that he was
working full-time. He insists, however, that the issue is
not whether he was employed full-time, but whether the
"least sophisticated consumer" who was working full-
time would have concluded that the Defendants' corre-
spondence threatened legal action.

Once again, the Court finds the Plaintiff's argument
to be unconvincing. The Plaintiff's unsupported assertion
that he was working full-time does not satisfy his eviden-
tiary burden under Rule 56. Furthermore, the Court can-
not agree that his employment status is irrelevant. If the
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Plaintiff was not employed full-time when he received
the Defendants' correspondence, then the letter did not
threaten legal action against him. Assuming, arguendo,
that the Plaintiff was not a full-time employee, even the
least [*16] sophisticated consumer in his position would
not have construed the Defendants' letter as threatening a
lawsuit. On the other hand, if the evidence establishes
that the Plaintiff was working full-time when he received
the Defendants' correspondence, then the least sophisti-
cated consumer in his position would have construed the
letter as threatening legal action. Therefore, the Plaintiff's
employment status is relevant to the existence of a
"threat" to take legal action.

With respect to the second element of his §
1692e(5) claim, the Plaintiff insists that the Defendants
lacked the lawful ability to take legal action against him,
because they "did not have the chain of title when they
made their threats." (Doc. # 37 at 6). This argument con-
cerns the Defendants' purported purchase of the Plain-
tiff's debt. Although the Plaintiff contends that the Court
failed to address this issue in its May 10, 1999, Decision
and Entry, a review of that ruling demonstrates other-
wise. The Court specifically found a genuine issue of
material fact as to whether the Defendants had validly
purchased the Plaintiff's Value City debt. n11 (Doc. # 33
at 8, 14). If the Defendants had validly purchased the
debt [*17] at the time of their correspondence, then they
were capable of legally filing suit to recover on the debt.
On the other hand, if the Defendants had not purchased
the debt, then they lacked the lawful ability to take legal
action against him. n12 (Id.). The Court previously con-
cluded that the evidence on this issue did not support the
entry of summary judgment in favor of either party.
Nothing in the Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration
alters that conclusion. Accordingly, based upon the
analysis set forth above, the Plaintiff's Motion for Recon-
sideration (Doc. # 37) is hereby overruled.

nll In his Motion for Summary Judgment,
the Plaintiff did not dispute that AAC had pur-
chased his debt from West Capital. See Doc. # 23
at 6 ("There is no dispute that Defendants pur-
chased the alleged debt from West Capital."). He
argued, however, that AAC could not establish
the validity of its "purchase," because it could not
"prove that West Capital ever purchased the debt
from the original creditor." (Id. at 7). In other
words, he argued that AAC lacked legal title to
his debt because it could prove only a transfer of
that debt from West Capital to AAC, but not a
preceding transfer of his debt from the original
creditor, GE Capital, to West Capital. As a result,
the Plaintiff asserted that West Capital had no le-
gal title to assign to AAC.

[*18]

nl2 In his Motion for Reconsideration, the
Plaintiff suggests that the Defendants could not
have legally filed suit when they sent him their
correspondence, because certain paperwork es-
tablishing "chain of title" to his debt was not yet
physically in their possession. (Doc. # 37 at 6).
He cites no authority, however, for the proposi-
tion that the legal owner of a debt cannot com-
mence litigation unless all supporting documenta-
tion is securely in hand when the Complaint is
filed.

II. Plaintiff's Motion to Strike (Doc. # 38)

Also pending before the Court is a Motion to Strike
(Doc. # 38), filed by the Plaintiff. In his Motion, the
Plaintiff seeks to strike: (1) a purported purchase agree-
ment between GE Capital and West Capital; and (2) an
unsigned, unnotarized copy of an "affidavit" from La
Vonne Nelson, who appears to be an employee of GE
Capital.

The foregoing documents, and others, are attached
to the Defendants' renewed Motion for Summary Judg-
ment (Doc. # 36). The Defendants have provided the
documents in an effort to establish their ownership of the
Plaintiff's Value City debt. With [*19] respect to the
purported affidavit, however, it is axiomatic that an "af-
fidavit" which is unsigned and not notarized cannot qual-
ify as proper Rule 56 evidence. Consequently, the Plain-
tiff's Motion to Strike is sustained with respect to La
Vonne Nelson's "affidavit."

The Court also finds the Plaintiff's Motion persua-
sive, insofar as it relates to the purchase agreement at-
tached to the Defendants' renewed Motion for Summary
Judgment. As noted above, the agreement involves GE
Capital and West Capital, which are allegedly the two
prior owners of the Plaintiff's Value City debt. The
agreement bears the caption, "Receivable Purchase
Agreement," and it purports to transfer ownership of
certain unspecified accounts from GE Capital to West
Capital. n13 In an effort to qualify the agreement (and
various other documents) as admissible evidence, AAC
President N. F. Bradley has provided the Court with an
affidavit in which he avers:

The documents provided this Honorable Court and
attorney for the plaintiff are direct copies of documents
kept in the files under his control and supervision or in
the ordinary course of business or received from his
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predecessor in title as part of the original file [*20]
maintained in the ordinary course of business."

(Bradley affidavit, attached to Doc. # 38).

nl3 The agreement provides for West Capi-
tal's purchase of the accounts listed on "a com-
puter-generated master file list on an electronic
magnetic tape identifying Receivables from cer-
tain Accounts as of the Cut-Off Date which Re-
ceivables are being purchased on the Purchase
Date by the Buyer . . . ." (December 29, 1995,
Receivable Purchase Agreement, attached to Doc.
#36 at2).

Through his affidavit, Bradley apparently intends to
establish the purchase agreement and other documents as
business records, pursuant to Fed.R.Evid. 803(6). nl4
Under that Rule, the custodian of business records may
authenticate them by stating that: (1) the records have
been made in the course of regularly conducted business
activities; (2) they have been kept in the regular course
of business; (3) the regular practice of that business is to
make the records; and (4) the records have been made by
a person with knowledge of the transaction [*21] or
from information transmitted by a person with knowl-
edge. In re Custodian of Records of Variety Distributing,
Inc., 927 F.2d 244, 248 (6th Cir. 1991). Once they are
properly qualified, business records fall under an excep-
tion to the hearsay rule. See Fed.R.Evid. 803(6).

nl4 Rule 803(6) provides:

Records of regularly con-
ducted activity. A memorandum,
report, record, or date compilation,
in any form, of acts, events, condi-
tions, opinions, or diagnoses,
made at or near the time by, or
from information transmitted by, a
person with knowledge, if kept in
the course of a regularly con-
ducted business activity, and if it
was the regular practice of that
business activity to make the
memorandum, report, record, or
data compilation, all as shown by
the testimony of the custodian or
other qualified witness, unless the
source of information or the
method or circumstances of prepa-
ration indicate lack of trustworthi-
ness. . . .

Bradley's affidavit, however, does not establish that
the GE [*22] Capital-West Capital purchase agreement
qualifies as a business record. He avers, alternatively,
that the agreement and other various documents are di-
rect copies which he kept: (1) in the files under his con-
trol and supervision; or (2) in the ordinary course of
business; or (3) that they were received from his prede-
cessor in title as part of the original file maintained in the
ordinary course of business. As noted above, however, in
order to establish that the agreement is a business record,
Bradley must aver: (1) that the records have been made
in the course of regularly conducted business activities;
and (2) that they have been kept in the regular course of
business; and (3) that the regular practice of that business
is to make the records; and (4) that the records have been
made by a person with knowledge of the transaction or
from information transmitted by a person with knowl-
edge. In re Custodian of Records of Variety Distributing,
Inc., 927 F.2d at 248. Bradley's affidavit plainly fails to
address each of these requirements. Consequently, he has
not properly established the admissibility of the pur-
ported purchase agreement. n15 Accordingly, the Plain-
tiff's Motion [*23] to Strike (Doc. # 38) is hereby sus-
tained.

nl5 For reasons to be set forth, infra, in its
analysis of the Defendants' renewed Motion for
Summary Judgment, the Court notes that the GE
Capital-West Capital purchase agreement fails to
establish AAC's ownership of the Plaintiff's debt,
even assuming, arguendo, that Bradley's affidavit
could establish the admissibility of the agree-
ment.

III. Defendants' Renewed Motion for Summary Judg-
ment (Doc. # 36)

The Defendants have filed a renewed Motion for
Summary Judgment (Doc. # 36), directed toward the
issues identified in the Court's May 10, 1999, Decision
and Entry, to wit: (1) the Plaintiff's state law claims un-
der the OCSPA; and (2) the Plaintiff's theories that the
Defendants violated the FDCPA by misrepresenting their
ownership of his debt and by threatening to take immi-
nent legal action without the lawful ability to do so.

With respect to the former issue, the Court noted in
its prior ruling that "if the Defendants had moved for
summary judgment on the [*24] Plaintiff's claims under
the Ohio statute, [they would have been] entitled to
summary judgment on those claims to the same extent
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that they are entitled to such judgment on Plaintiff's
claims under the federal statute." (Doc. # 33 at 19). The
Court reached this conclusion because the Plaintiff had
alleged that the Defendants' violations of the Ohio statute
were coextensive with their violations of the FDCPA.
(Id.).

In light of the Court's prior ruling on the Plaintiff's
FDCPA claims, the Defendants' renewed Motion for
Summary Judgment is sustained, insofar as it relates to
the following alleged violations of the OCSPA: (1) the
failure to inform the Plaintiff of the consequences of
acknowledging a debt; (2) the creation of a false sense of
urgency; (3) the sending of correspondence which was
calculated to abuse, to harass, and to oppress. In its May
10, 1999, Decision and Entry, the Court sustained the
Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on these
claims under the FDCPA. For the reasons set forth in that
ruling, the Court finds the Defendants entitled to sum-
mary judgment on the same claims under the OCSPA.

The only remaining issue, then, is whether the De-
fendants are entitled [*25] to summary judgment, under
the OCSPA and the FDCPA, on the Plaintiff's two other
claims. As noted above, those claims allege that the De-
fendants misrepresented their ownership of the Plaintiff's
debt and threatened to take imminent legal action with-
out the lawful ability to do so. In its prior ruling, the
Court noted that both claims share a common factual
issue, namely whether AAC possessed legal title to the
Plaintiff's debt when it corresponded with him. (Doc. #
33 at 20). In their renewed Motion for Summary Judg-
ment, the Defendants have provided the Court with vari-
ous documents in an effort to establish their ownership of
the Plaintiff's debt. After reviewing those documents,
however, the Court concludes that they have failed to
demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material
fact on the point.

In order to establish the Defendants' possession of
legal title to the Plaintiff's debt, the evidence must show
that ownership of the debt was transferred from GE
Capital (the original owner of the debt) to West Capital.
nl6 The Defendants' evidence fails to establish the oc-
currence of such a transaction. nl17 The first document
attached to the Defendants' renewed Motion for Sum-
mary [*26] Judgment is a copy of the "Plaintiff's Re-
sponses to Defendants' Request for Admissions." The
Defendants have provided this document to demonstrate
"the complete lack of direct straight forward conduct that
one would anticipate receiving from either Plaintiff or
Defendants['] attorneys in matters before the Chief Judge
of the present United States District Court." (Doc. # 36 at
3). The Plaintiff's responses have no bearing, however,
on the Defendants' ownership of the debt in question.
The second document provided by the Defendants is a
copy of a letter from their attorney to Plaintiff's attorney.

The letter sets forth the Defendants' belief that they have
not violated the FDCPA or the OCSPA, but it does noth-
ing to establish the assignment of the Plaintiff's debt
from GE Capital to West Capital. The third piece of evi-
dence is a copy of a letter from La Vonne Nelson of GE
Capital to the Plaintiff. It informs him that "GE Capital
sold your Value Furniture City [sic] account to West
Capital Financial Services." This document establishes
only that GE Capital told the Plaintiff that his debt had
been sold. It does not establish the occurrence of an ac-
tual transaction. The fourth [*27] piece of evidence is a
lone page bearing the caption "The 45 Largest Retail
Card Programs." The page lists a variety of information
about GE Capital. Its relevance to the present litigation is
not readily apparent. It does nothing to establish a trans-
fer of ownership of the Plaintiff's debt. The fifth docu-
ment is a copy of the aforementioned GE Capital-West
Capital purchase agreement. n18 It provides for West
Capital's purchase of certain delinquent accounts. Pursu-
ant to the agreement, the specific accounts at issue were
to be identified on "a computer-generated master file
list." (Receivable Purchase Agreement, attached to Doc.
# 36 at 2). Significantly, nothing in the agreement identi-
fies the Plaintiff's account as one of those transferred
from GE Capital to West Capital. The sixth document
provided by the Defendants follows the purchase agree-
ment and bears the heading "Accounts Received from
GE Capital Purchase." The two-page document lists a
number of accounts, including the Plaintiff's. In a "Sup-
plement to Documents in Support of Motion for Sum-
mary Disposition" (attached to Doc. # 36), the Defen-
dants contend that the list identifies the specific accounts
purchased by West Capital. [*28] Allegations contained
in the Defendants' Memorandum, however, are not evi-
dence. The record contains no evidence explaining the
significance of the accounts listed on the two pages. As
noted above, Bradley's affidavit makes no attempt to
explain the contents of any of the Defendants' supporting
documentation. He avers only that the documents "are
direct copies of documents kept in the files under his
control and supervision or in the ordinary course of busi-
ness or received from his predecessor in title as part of
the original file maintained in the ordinary course of
business." Absent any proper Rule 56 evidence establish-
ing that the account lists identify the accounts sold by
GE Capital to West Capital, they do nothing to establish
the Defendants' possession of legal title to the Plaintiff's
debt.

nl6 As noted, supra, the Plaintiff admitted in
his Motion for Summary Judgment that AAC had
purchased his debt from West Capital. See Plain-
tiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, Doc. # 23
at 6 ("There is no dispute that Defendants pur-
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chased the alleged debt from West Capital.").
Consequently, the only disputed issue is whether
GE Capital, the original creditor, ever assigned
the Plaintiff's debt to West Capital.

[*29]

nl7 As a threshold matter, the Court notes
that none of the various documents attached to
the Defendants' renewed Motion for Summary
Judgment are authenticated beyond Bradley's in-
sufficient averment that the documents "are direct
copies of documents kept in the files under his
control and supervision or in the ordinary course
of business or received from his predecessor in ti-
tle as part of the original file maintained in the
ordinary course of business." For reasons to be
set forth, infra, however, the Court finds those
documents insufficient to establish the Defen-
dants' entitlement to summary judgment, even if
they were proper Rule 56 evidence.

nl8 Although the Court has found this
document vulnerable to the Plaintiff's Motion to
Strike, the Court will address its contents briefly,
in order to explain why it fails to establish AAC's
ownership of the Plaintiff's debt, even if properly
considered as a business record.

The next document provided by the Defendants is a
copy of a purchase agreement between West Capital and
AAC. The agreement provides for AAC to purchase
"certain" of [*30] West Capital's charged-off accounts.
The specific accounts purchased by AAC were to be
listed on a computer diskette, which was to be made a
part of the agreement. (Purchase and Sale Agreement,
attached to Doc. # 36, at § 1.2). Nothing in the written
agreement identifies the Plaintiff's account as one of
those purchased by AAC. Following the agreement,
however, is a two-page document which lists a number
of accounts, including the Plaintiff's. The document is
identical to the two-page document discussed above in
connection with the GE Capital-West Capital purchase
agreement. In fact, the document bears the same nota-
tion, "Accounts Received from GE Capital Purchase."
Nothing about the document suggests that it has any rela-
tionship to the West Capital-AAC purchase agreement or
the accounts that AAC received from West Capital. n19

nl9 In any event, the Plaintiff does not dis-
pute that the Defendants "purchased" his debt

from West Capital. He contends only that the
transaction had no legal effect, because West
Capital did not own his debt. Consequently, the
Defendants need not establish the absence of a
genuine issue of material fact as to the occurrence
of the West Capital-AAC transaction.

[*31]

Finally, the Defendants have provided the Court
with a copy of a letter from AAC to the Plaintiff. The
letter informs the Plaintiff that AAC has purchased his
debt from West Capital. This letter does not constitute
evidence establishing a transfer of ownership of the
Plaintiff's debt from GE Capital to West Capital. Rather,
it establishes only that AAC told the Plaintiff that it owns
his debt. This assertion of ownership, which the Plaintiff
disputes, forms the basis for one of his claims against the
Defendants. Indeed, his theory is that the Defendants
misrepresented their ownership of legal title to his Value
City debt. (Doc. # 33 at 7). Given the nature of the Plain-
tiff's claim, a letter from the Defendants asserting owner-
ship of his debt cannot be used to establish the fact of
such ownership.

In short, none of the Defendants' evidence estab-
lishes, as a matter of law, that the Plaintiff cannot prevail
on his remaining claims under the FDCPA and the OC-
SPA. In its prior ruling, the Court found a genuine issue
of material fact as to whether the Plaintiff's original
creditor ever assigned his debt to West Capital. (Doc. #
33 at 8). The Court also noted that this factual issue was
[*32] common to the Plaintiff's two remaining claims,
specifically whether the Defendants violated the FDCPA
and the OCSPA by misrepresenting (1) their ownership
of legal to his debt and (2) the imminence of legal action
against him. (Id. at 19). For the reasons set forth above,
the Court concludes that none of the documents provided
by the Defendants in their renewed Motion for Summary
Judgment resolve the foregoing factual issue, as a matter
of law.

IV. Conclusion

Based upon the reasoning set forth above, the Plain-
tiff's Motion for Reconsideration (Doc. # 37) is over-
ruled. The Plaintiff's Motion to Strike (Doc. # 38) is sus-
tained. The Defendants' renewed Motion for Summary
Judgment (Doc. # 36) is overruled.

December 30, 1999
WALTER HERBERT RICE, CHIEF JUDGE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT



